FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/12/2019 3:18 PM
No. 50981-4-II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/13/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

97535-3

LISA STEEL, individually and as Guardian *ad litem* for J.T., a minor; DOUGLAS THOMPSON and KRISTI BARBIERI, individually and as Guardian *ad litem* for S.R.B., a minor,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

VS.

OLYMPIA EARLY LEARNING CENTER, et al.,

Respondents/Defendants,

VS.

PHILADELPHIA INDEMNITY INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondents/Intervener

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Darrell L. Cochran, WSBA No. 22851 Christopher E. Love, WSBA No. 42832 Counsel for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Lisa Steel, *et al*, as individuals and as guardians ad litem for their minor children, ask this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part II below.

II. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The Petitioners before this Court consist of six sets of parents and their minor children (collectively, "Petitioners"; respectively, the "Parents" and "Children") who were sexually abused by an employee of the daycare they attended, Olympia Early Learning Center ("OELC"). After the employee's arrest for child rape and child molestation at the day care, Petitioners brought negligence claims against OELC; its owner, Steve Olson; and an employee, Rose Horgdahl (collectively, the "defendants" or "insureds").

Philadelphia Indemnity Insurance Company ("Philadelphia"), OELC's liability insurer, retained defense counsel to defend its insureds. Although Philadelphia ultimately was responsible for ensuring its insureds received a vigorous defense, in the weeks leading up to trial neither Petitioners, their experts, nor any of the lay witnesses had been deposed. Unsurprisingly in light of the high potential for a ruinous jury verdict holding them liable for serious sexual abuse claims, in late September 2012 the insureds entered into covenant judgment settlement agreements with Petitioners exchanging stipulated judgments and an assignment of bad faith claims against Philadelphia for a covenant not to execute the judgments against them.

Only after Petitioners moved to have the stipulated judgment amounts declared reasonable under RCW 4.22.060 — directly placing Philadelphia's financial interests at stake by establishing the judgment amounts as the presumptive measure of damages in subsequent bad faith litigation—did Philadelphia believe vigorous discovery was necessary, moving to intervene in the reasonableness proceedings under the pretense of so-called "focused discovery." To the contrary, Philadelphia's ensuing discovery demands were all-encompassing and far in excess of ordinarily permissible discovery, resulting in production of all of Petitioners' ordinary work product, defense counsel's entire case file (including privileged communications), and the insureds' personal counsels' entire files (including privileged communications).

Even this was not enough for Philadelphia, however, as Philadelphia demanded *seventeen* (17) depositions of the Parents; the insureds; defense counsel; and the settlement guardians ad litem ("SGALs") appointed by the trial court after the settlement. Over Petitioners' objections of irrelevance, the trial court entered an order allowing these depositions on certain incredibly broad topics requested by Philadelphia, including evidence supporting liability and damages; the insureds' subjective opinions regarding their liability for the claims; defense counsel's subjective opinions regarding the merits of the case; and the post-settlement involvement of settlement guardians *ad litem* ("SGALs") with the case.

On interlocutory review, the Court of Appeals simply held without any analysis that "pre-settlement knowledge obtained after settlement" "can

be" relevant to a trial court's reasonableness determination. Steel v. Olympic Early Learning Ctr., No. 50981-4-II, 2019 WL 2291306, at *7 (Wash. Ct. App. May 29, 2019) ("Steel II"). It further held that such discovery is permissible if it "involve[s] information known to at least one of the parties at the time of the settlement," does not seek "privileged information or information otherwise undiscoverable," and "take[s] into consideration the Glover factors." Steel II, 2019 WL 2291306, at *7. Finally, it declined to specifically address other categories of discovery fully briefed by the parties and ordered by the trial court—such as the subjective opinions of the parties and defense counsel regarding the case's merits and the settlement, as well as the SGALs' involvement with and information about the case—holding that it could not "speculate as to other discovery issues that may arise." Id. For the following reasons, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with numerous decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals and raises multiple issues of substantial public interest, requiring review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b) (1), (b)(2), (b)(4).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' holding in this case that evidence of pre-settlement information generated after a covenant judgment settlement agreement may be relevant to a trial court's reasonableness determination under RCW 4.22.060 conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals that reasonableness is determined based on the posture of the case at the time of settlement?
- B. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because, to the extent that the Court of Appeals' holding authorizes post-settlement discovery of the subjective opinions of the parties and

their counsel in a reasonableness proceeding, that holding conflicts with decisions of the Court of Appeals that such subjective opinion evidence is irrelevant to a trial court's objective reasonableness determination?

- C. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because, to the extent that the Court of Appeals' holding authorizes discovery regarding settlement guardians *ad litem* who only became involved with the case after settlement, that holding conflicts with decisions of the Court of Appeals that a trial court determines reasonableness based on the facts, law, and posture of the case at the time of settlement, not on post-settlement events?
- D. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision undermines Washington policy incentivizing insurers to provide a vigorous defense to their insureds in litigation, undermines Washington policy strongly favoring settlement, and affects all Washington insureds and tort litigants?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After the 2011 arrest and conviction of an OELC employee, Eli Tabor, for child rape and child molestation at the day care, Petitioners brought negligence claims against the insureds.¹ Philadelphia, OELC's liability insurer, retained defense counsel to defend its insureds.²

As the Court of Appeals observed in the first interlocutory appeal in this case, "[a]lthough trial was set for October 16 [2012], as of September 5, defense counsel hired by Philadelphia had conducted little discovery."³ Specifically, Petitioners had not been deposed, none of Petitioners' experts had been deposed, and none of the lay witnesses had been deposed.⁴

¹ Steel v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co., 195 Wn. App. 811, 817, 381 P.3d 111 (2016) ("Steel I"); Clerk's Papers ("CP") 107.

² Steel I, 195 Wn. App. at 817; CP 1197.

³ Steel I, 195 Wn. App. at 817.

⁴ CP 1218, 1228.

Moreover, despite retaining defense counsel, Philadelphia admitted that it was ultimately responsible for managing defense preparations and for directing defense counsel to "make changes" if the prepared defense was inadequate.⁵ Indeed, Philadelphia's claims notes state, "Need to contact... perhaps an expert to see what if anything else *we need to be doing* to protect our insureds in this matter." Yet, despite the severity of the claims against the defendants and defense counsel's dire warnings, Philadelphia did nothing to ensure discovery was being obtained regarding Tabor's actions, the defendants' liability, or Petitioners' damages.⁷

Despite failing to ensure its insureds received basic formal discovery, however, prior to settlement, Philadelphia regularly received information regarding the case, including liability and damages evaluations, from defense counsel. For example, on June 23, 2011, defense counsel sent correspondence to Philadelphia enclosing a new Court of Appeals opinion and stating, "Frankly, I did not think we had a chance on summary judgment in the case before, but this case law makes the prospect even dimmer." On February 21, 2012, defense counsel sent a status report to Philadelphia discussing each Petitioner's allegations, defense counsel's view of the supporting and contradicting evidence, and defense counsel's liability and damages evaluations. On August 2, 2012, defense counsel sent to

<u>~</u>

⁵ CP 1217-18, 1510.

⁶ CP 2043 (emphasis added).

⁷ CP 1207-08, 1218-21, 1228.

⁸ CP 7670.

⁹ CP 7610-19.

Philadelphia—at Philadelphia's request—a "Summary of Allegations" for each Petitioner, including his defense theories based on available evidence.¹⁰ And on September 18, 2012, defense counsel sent a letter to Philadelphia with recommended allocations of the \$1,000,000 policy limits claimed by Philadelphia to each Petitioner.¹¹ The letter proceeded to discuss the liability and damages evidence underlying Petitioners' claims and the allocations.¹²

In late September 2012, the insureds entered into covenant judgment settlement agreements with Petitioners.¹³ After the settlement, the trial court appointed six SGALs to recommend approval of the Children's settlements under SPR 98.16W.¹⁴

After Petitioners moved for entry of the stipulated judgments, in October 2012 "Philadelphia moved to intervene to conduct 'focused discovery' . . . and to participate in any reasonableness hearing." However, Philadelphia subsequently attempted through a series of motions to "expand the scope of discovery," resulting in Petitioners producing over

¹⁰ CP 7621-23.

¹¹ CP 2320-22.

¹² *Id*.

¹³ Steel I, 195 Wn. App. at 817,819, 837; CP 1229-30.

¹⁴ CP 19-24, 3496, 3514, 3525, 3539, 3549, 3558, 7873-78, 7946-51, 8006-11, 8066-71, 8124-29. SPR 98.16W(a) provides in pertinent part: "In every settlement of a claim . . . involving the beneficial interest of an unemancipated minor or a person determined to be disabled or incapacitated under RCW 11.88, the court shall determine the adequacy of the proposed settlement on behalf of such affected person and reject or approve it."

In turn, SPR 98.16W(c)(1) requires the trial court to appoint a SGAL to "assist the court in determining the adequacy of the proposed settlement" through an "investigation" and "written report . . . with a recommendation regarding approval"

¹⁵ Steel I, 195 Wn. App. at 746-747.

200,000 pages of materials, including: defense counsel's entire file; Petitioners' non-mental impression and non-opinion work product consisting of "all of the nonprivileged documents generated, maintained, or obtained in this case including medical records, public records request responses, witness communications, expert communications, subpoenas, pleadings, and documents received in discovery"; all other attorneys' work product; and all communications among Petitioners' counsel, coverage counsel, and defense counsel up to the point of the settlements. 16

Philadelphia, however, pressed for further discovery, resulting in a trial court order requiring Petitioners to produce their attorney-client privileged materials and mental impression and opinion work product and certifying appellate review under RAP 2.3(b)(4).¹⁷

In the first interlocutory review in this case, the Court of Appeals held that Appellants had not waived protection of their attorney mental impression and opinion work product, reasoning:

> The Glover/Chaussee factors include damages, the merits of their liability theory, the merits of the insureds' defense theory and relative fault, the risks and expenses of continued litigation, the insureds' ability to pay, evidence of bad faith, collusion, or fraud, the extent of plaintiffs' preparation and investigation, and the interests of Philadelphia may all be assessed based on other evidence in Philadelphia's possession and the discovery already submitted to Philadelphia. 18

Undeterred by these holdings, however, on remand Philadelphia

¹⁶ Steel I, 195 Wn. App. at 818-19; CP 521-22.

¹⁷ Id. at 821.

¹⁸ Steel I, 195 Wn. App. at 841 (emphasis added).

resumed its demands for discovery, resulting in another series of discovery motions.¹⁹ Philadelphia demanded depositions of the Parents, defendants, defense counsel, and the SGALs—*17 depositions* in all.²⁰ Ultimately, on June 22, 2017, the trial court entered its Discovery order in which it ordered that the defendants, defense counsel, the Parents, and the SGALs could be deposed on the following topics:

- 1. Defendants John Masterson (as representative of Olympia Early Learning Center), Rose Horgdal, and Steve Olson, may be deposed with respect to 1) defendants' ability to pay or contribute to a settlement or judgment, and 2) in their opinion, the veracity of the factual confessions signed by those individuals.
- 2. [Defense counsel] Michael Bolasina may be deposed with respect to 1) the risks of continuing litigation, 2) preparation for trial, and 3) his opinions regarding liability.
- 3. The [Parents] may be deposed with respect to the facts necessary to evaluate both liability and damages known by plaintiffs at the time of settlement (for example, the [P]arents' observations regarding their children). Due to dismissal of the [Parents'] claims, Philadelphia may not depose the [Parents] with respect to the [Parents'] loss of consortium claims.
- 4. Settlement Guardians ad Litem may be deposed with respect to 1) the circumstances regarding their retention, 2) how they were retained and by whom, 3) the process of their retention, 4) what information was provided to them and by whom, and 5) whether they were influenced by any counsel regarding their reports. Philadelphia may

¹⁹ CP 3622.

²⁰ CP 7524-531.

not depose them regarding their understanding of the reasonableness hearing as separate coverage litigation.²¹

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. Review is required under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2) because (1) the Court of Appeals' holding that pre-settlement knowledge obtained after settlement—implicitly including merits evidence generated after settlement—can be relevant to a trial court's reasonableness determination ignores Washington appellate precedent holding that reasonableness must be determined by the "posture of the case at the time of settlement"

Division Two's holding that pre-settlement knowledge obtained after settlement—including merits evidence generated after settlement—"can be" relevant to a trial court's determination of the reasonableness of a covenant judgment settlement is in conflict with decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals, requiring review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2).

Regarding a covenant judgment settlement in Washington, RCW 4.22.060(1) provides that when parties enter into a "release, covenant not to sue, covenant not to enforce judgment, or similar agreement, *a determination that the amount to be paid is reasonable must be secured.*" *Steel I*, 195 Wn. App. at 830 (emphasis added). The trial court's reasonableness determination is one of *objective* reasonableness, *Dana v. Piper*, 173 Wn. App. 761, 776, 295 P.3d 305 (2013), utilizing nine factors often referred to as the "*Glover*" or "*Glover/Chaussee*" factors. *Steel I*, 195 Wn. App. at 831 (listing the *Glover* factors).

However, the scope of a trial court's inquiry in covenant judgment reasonableness determinations is much more restricted than a jury's

²¹ CP 7849-851.

determination in a trial setting. As Division Three has observed, RCW 4.22.060(1)'s language "narrowly confine[s] the trial court's evaluation of a settlement agreement to a stand-alone reasonable settlement amount." Hidalgo v. Barker, 176 Wn. App. 527, 543–44, 309 P.3d 687 (2013). Consistent with the narrow confines of a trial court's reasonableness determination, RCW 4.22.060 only requires five days' notice (which may be further shortened by the trial court) of settlement and a reasonableness hearing to the original *parties* (i.e., the settling parties) in the lawsuit. See Sharbono v. Universal Underwriters Ins. Co., 139 Wn. App. 383, 407, 161 P.3d 406 (2007) (insurer not entitled to statutory notice of settlement because it was not a party to the suit between the settling parties), review denied, 163 Wn.2d 1055, 187 P.3d 752 (2008).²² As a result, reasonableness hearings may proceed without the defendants' insurer participating at all. Red Oaks Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Sundquist Holdings, *Inc.*, 128 Wn. App. 317, 320-21, 326, 116 P.3d 404 (2005) (trial court properly held reasonableness hearing on six days' notice to insurer even

_

notice of presentation for judgments (CR 54(f)(2))."

Brewer v. Fibreboard Corp., 127 Wn.2d 512, 524, 901 P.2d 297 (1995) (quoting Zamora v. Mobil Oil, Corp., 104 Wn.2d 211, 222, 704 P.2d 591 (1985)).

²² Even as to the original parties, this Court has explained how the mere 5-day notice required under the statute reflects the intended summary nature of the proceedings:

[&]quot;The requirement for 5 days' notice to all parties of the reasonableness hearing is obviously for the purpose of giving all parties the opportunity to appear and be heard at that hearing and to do their best to insure that the settlement is in fact a reasonable one—a matter of obvious importance to all nonsettling parties because the claim of a settling plaintiff against a nonsettling party is ordinarily reduced by the amount of the settlement. The 5–day written notice to parties requirement of the statute, RCW 4.22.060(1), is much the same as the requirement for a 5–day notice of presentation for findings of fact (CR 52(c)) and the 5–day notice of presentation for judgments (CR 54(f)(2))."

where insurer chose not to participate in hearing when denied additional discovery). Indeed, as the Court of Appeals expressly has held, "Regardless of whether the insurer disputes the amount of the settlement, the trial court must make an objective finding . . . that the settlement is reasonable." *Howard v. Royal Specialty Underwriting, Inc.*, 121 Wn. App. 372, 378, 89 P.3d 265 (2004).

Further consistent with the narrow confines of a trial court's reasonableness determination, "[t]he trial court's role at a settlement hearing is not to exhaustively analyze any one *Chaussee* factor in determining whether a settlement is reasonable; rather, it is to weigh each relevant factor as necessary to the case before it." *Justus v. Morgan*, 199 Wn. App. 1039, 2017 WL 4277678, at *5 (2017).²³ And in determining reasonableness, the trial court does not "ultimately conclude the merits of any legal theory," such as determining whether evidence conclusively negated or established Petitioners' claims. *Justus*, 2017 WL 4277678, at *7. Rather, the trial court's role is to determine the "plausible merit" or "possibility of the legal claims." *Id.* at *6, 7. Instead, the trial court's ultimate inquiry is whether the parties "deci[ded] to settle for an amount within the range of evidence." *Martin v. Johnson*, 141 Wn. App. 611, 621, 170 P.3d 1198 (2007).

As a necessary corollary to the limited, non-exhaustive scope of a trial court's reasonableness determination, this Court has flatly rejected the

-

²³ Pursuant to GR 14.1(a), Appellants cite this and all other unpublished Washington decisions in this brief only as nonbinding authorities accorded such persuasive value as the Court deems appropriate.

proposition that a reasonableness hearing should devolve into a "mini-trial" on liability issues. *Glover for Cobb v. Tacoma Gen. Hosp.*, 98 Wn.2d 708, 717, 658 P.2d 1230 (1983), *abrogated by Crown Controls, Inc. v. Smiley*, 110 Wn.2d 695, 756 P.2d 717 (1988). Indeed, "[t]he law does not require settling parties to prepare for a reasonableness hearing as exhaustively and expensively as if they were preparing for trial," such as engaging in merits discovery in the first instance after settlement. *Sykes v. Singh*, 2018 WL 3844350, at *5 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 13, 2018).

Instead, the Court's inquiry ultimately is one of objective reasonableness. Dana, 173 Wn. App. at 776. That is, the Court's inquiry is whether reasonable persons in the same circumstances could reach the And because the trial court's "narrowly confined" same result. reasonableness determination seeks to determine what an objectively reasonable person could have done under the same circumstances, it narrows the scope of evidence to "the posture of the case at the time the settlements were reached," Mavroudis v. Pittsburgh-Corning Corp., 86 Wn. App. 22, 38, 935 P.2d 684 (1997). Thus, determining reasonableness based on information generated after settlement is improper, as it premises a reasonableness determination on a different litigation posture than the parties had at the time of the settlement. See Mavroudis, 86 Wn. App. at 38. For example, *Mavroudis* held that the trial court had not improperly determined the reasonableness of pre-trial settlements by considering evidence adduced at a subsequent trial against non-settling parties. *Id.*

Contrary to Mavroudis, Dana, and Harbour Pointe, the Court of

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