# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/4/2019 2:43 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97535-3

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LISA STEEL, individually and as Guardian *ad litem* for J.T., a minor; DOUGLAS THOMPSON and KRISTI BARBIERI, individually and as Guardian *ad litem* for S.R.R., a minor,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

v.

#### OLYMPIA EARLY LEARNING CENTER, et al.,

Respondents/Defendants,

v.

#### PHILADELPHIA INDEMNITY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent/Intervener

## RESPONDENT PHILADELPHIA INDEMNITY INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners are plaintiffs in this action (hereinafter, "Plaintiffs") who have sued Defendants Rose Horgdahl, Steve Olson and Olympia Early Learning Center ("OELC") in this action. Defendants are insureds under insurance issued by Intervenor Philadelphia Indemnity Insurance Company ("Philadelphia").

Plaintiffs' petition for review arises out of 13 stipulated settlements of claims against Defendants related to sexual misconduct and alleged sexual misconduct by Eli Tabor, a former employee of OELC, executed in September 2012 by Plaintiffs and Defendants. Since 2012, the Plaintiffs have asserted that Philadelphia should be barred from conducting discovery regarding the *Glover* reasonableness factors that the trial court will consider in evaluating the reasonable amount of the stipulated settlements.<sup>1</sup>

In response to the second interlocutory appeal related to discovery in this matter, the Washington Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court had discretion to allow deposition discovery limited to non-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Glover v. Tacoma Gen. Hosp., 98 Wn.2d 708, 717, 658 P.2d 1230 (1983),

*abrogated on other grounds by Crown Controls, Inc. v. Smiley*, 110 Wn.2d 695, 756 P.2d 717 (1988).

privileged information known to at least one of the parties at the time of the settlement related to the *Glover* factors.

This Court's discretionary review is not warranted. The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision regarding discovery is fact-specific, entirely consistent with settled Washington law, and establishes no precedent. Plaintiffs provide no reasonable argument to support their contention that the issues for which they seek review present a conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court, a conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals, or qualify as issues of substantial public interest requiring further guidance by this Court. Accordingly, this Court should deny review.

#### **II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Is there any basis, as required under the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 13.4(b), for this Court to accept discretionary review of an unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals addressing an interlocutory order of the trial court?

#### **III. NATURE OF THE CASE AND DECISION**

In late 2011 and early 2012, Plaintiffs filed six lawsuits against Philadelphia's insureds alleging that Defendants were negligent in hiring and supervising a former employee, who was alleged to have molested minor plaintiffs. Philadelphia provided a complete defense to its insureds, never disputed coverage, defended without reserving rights, and offered its policy limits to resolve the claims.

During this pre-settlement phase, Defendants Rose Horgdahl and Steve Olson testified in deposition that the employee had cleared two background checks and that they had no knowledge of any misconduct occurring at the learning center. CP 3655 – 3659; CP 3661 – 3662.

Prior to the stipulated settlements, a dispute developed between *Plaintiffs*' counsel and Philadelphia regarding the amount of available insurance limits, with Philadelphia maintaining that available limits were \$1 million and with Plaintiffs' counsel insisting that there were \$4 million in limits.<sup>2</sup> Accordingly, on August 24, 2012, Philadelphia filed a separate interpleader action in federal district court asking the court to determine the amount of the applicable policy limits and then to distribute those limits. CP 2805. Federal District Court Judge Ronald B. Leighton would later reject Plaintiffs' counsel's contention and rule in Philadelphia's favor finding: "the limit of insurance available for bodily injury arising from multiple claims of abuse over multiple policy periods is exactly and only \$1 million."<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> To be clear, this dispute did not arise between the insured defendants and Philadelphia.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co. v. Olympia Early Learning Ctr., 980 F. Supp. 2d 1266, 1273 (W.D. Wash. 2013).

However, on September 24, 2012, before **either** side had conducted expert discovery and before potential witnesses had been disclosed in three of the cases, Defendants agreed to Plaintiffs' counsel's request that they stipulate to entry of judgments totaling \$25 million for the 6 child plaintiffs and their parents in exchange for Plaintiffs' written agreement that they would only seek to collect the judgments from Philadelphia.<sup>4</sup> CP 470; CP 3828. The proposed stipulated judgments were supported by factual "confessions" signed by Defendants, which contradicted Defendants' prior, pre-settlement deposition testimony. CP 1922. Defendants' factual confessions were drafted by Plaintiffs' counsel without any input from Defendants or defense counsel and were merely presented to Defendants for signature with the final draft of the settlement documents as a *fait accompli*. CP 478.

Shortly after the settlement, Defendants produced to Plaintiffs' counsel the complete, un-redacted files of defense counsel, including all attorney-client communication and mental impression work product, thus waiving any attorney-client and work product privilege of Defendants. CP 3879; CP 4675; CP 4915.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Police and DSHS investigated and uncovered no evidence that Tabor abused 5 of the 6 minor plaintiffs.

As part of the settlement, Plaintiffs' counsel now "represents both Plaintiffs and Defendants in seeking a reasonableness determination concerning the settlement." CP 2399. In his capacity as dual counsel for both Plaintiffs and Defendants, plaintiff/defense/appellant counsel has instructed the defense attorney appointed by Philadelphia not to discuss substantive issues related to this matter with Philadelphia. CP 1303. Thus, Philadelphia's only opportunity to learn what Defendants knew at the time of the settlement regarding liability, damages, and other information pertinent to the *Glover* factors that the trial court will consider is through deposition testimony of defense counsel and the Defendants.

In the first appeal in this matter, Steel v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co., 195 Wn. App. 811, 381 P.3d 111 (2016) ("Steel I") the Court of Appeals held that Philadelphia was not entitled to <u>Plaintiffs</u>' attorneyclient communications or mental impression work product, but held that the trial court had discretion to allow Philadelphia to depose Plaintiffs:

> [A]t the trial court's discretion, Philadelphia can depose the plaintiffs to determine the strength of the abuse allegations in order to evaluate the settlement amount and the validity of the supporting confessions.

On remand, the trial court conducted several hearings related to discovery issues. On June 22, 2017, the trial court issued an order permitting some, but not all, of the deposition discovery Philadelphia requested on limited topics pertaining to the Glover reasonableness factors. CP 7849 - 7851. The court ordered that: 1) "[Defense Counsel] may be deposed with respect to risk of litigation, preparation for trial, and his opinion regarding liability" (Factors 2, 3 and 5); 2) Defendants "may be deposed with respect to defendant's ability to pay or contribute to settlement or the judgment, and in their opinion, the veracity of the factual confessions" (Factors 4, 6, and 7); 3) the adult plaintiffs "may be deposed with respect to facts necessary to evaluate both liability and damages known by plaintiffs at the time of settlement" (Factors 1 and 2); 4) the settlement guardians ad litem ("SGALs") "may be deposed with respect to circumstances regarding their retention, how they were retained, by whom, what the process was, what information was provided to them, whether they were influenced, for lack of a better term, by either, both, or any counsel regarding their reports"<sup>5</sup> (Factor 7); and 5) "[Plaintiffs' counsel] will not be deposed." VRP 40:5-41:3.

Plaintiffs obtained discretionary review of this interlocutory order. On May 29, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished decision. With regard to discovery, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not err by allowing some discovery and set the following parameters for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The trial court expressly reserved on the issue of whether any evidence obtained from depositions of the SGALs would be admissible at the reasonableness hearing. CP 5485 - 5486.

the trial court: 1) the discovery can only involve information known to at least one of the parties at the time of the settlement; 2) it cannot be for privileged information or information otherwise undiscoverable; and 3) it must take into consideration the *Glover* factors. This ruling is entirely consistent with Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions governing reasonableness determinations.

#### **IV. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED**

#### A. Standard of Review

Pursuant to the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 13.4(b), a petition for review to the Washington Supreme Court is accepted only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Plaintiffs contend that review is warranted based on the argument that insurers should be precluded from deposing any witnesses in reasonableness proceedings and that the unpublished decision involves an issue of substantial public interest – a position that is not supported by existing Washington law. As discussed below, Plaintiffs are mistaken and

review is not warranted under any of the criteria established in RAP 13.4(b).

## **B.** The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Decision Does Not Conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals Decisions

Trial courts tasked with determining the reasonableness of stipulated settlements through the reasonableness hearing process have purposely been given broad discretion on what procedures to use and how to manage discovery. *See e.g., Brewer v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 127 Wn. 2d 512, 529, 901 P. 2d 297 (1995) ("The trial judge faced with this task must have discretion to weigh each case individually."); *Schmidt v. Cornerstone Investments, Inc.*, 115 Wn.2d 148, 159, 795 P.2d 1143 (1990) ("we are confident that trial judges will develop their own procedures for handling these cases"); *Pickett v. Stephens-Nelsen, Inc.*, 43 Wn. App. 326, 335, 717 P.2d 277 (1986) ("the procedures for handling evidence at these hearings are within the trial court's discretion.").

Reasonableness is determined by what information was known by the parties at the time of settlement, not what was known to a defendant's insurer at the time of settlement. *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp., LLC*, 175 Wn.2d 756, 775–76, 287 P.3d 551 (2012) (trial court was required to address the viability of "claim based on what was known to the parties at the time of settlement."); *Green v. City of Wenatchee*, 148 Wn. App. 351, 369, 199 P.3d 1029 (2009) (directing trial court "to enter findings of fact reflecting its consideration of each relevant [*Glover*] factor based upon the facts and law at the time of the settlement.").

Plaintiffs confuse the process of discovering the information the parties knew at the time of settlement, as permitted under the trial court's order here, with the introduction of the parties' post-settlement knowledge, which is not sought here by Philadelphia. The discovery ordered by the trial court is limited to questions about what was known by the parties at the time of the settlement.

This discovery is regularly permitted in the reasonableness hearing context and may be vital to ensuring the integrity of these proceedings, as illustrated by *Water's Edge Homeowners Ass'n v. Water's Edge Assocs.*, 152 Wn. App. 572, 216 P.3d 1110, (2009), *review denied*, 228 P.3d 17 (2010). In *Water's Edge*, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's determination that a stipulated settlement was not reasonable based upon evidence obtained through discovery after a covenant judgment. There, the trial court permitted the intervening insurers to conduct discovery related to the reasonableness of a stipulated judgment between a homeowners association and developer. Based upon evidence developed through this discovery and presented at the reasonableness hearing, the trial court determined that the reasonable settlement value of that case was \$400,000 rather than the \$8.75 million stipulated settlement. It is apparent from the appellate court's lengthy discussion that the court considered the evidence obtained by the intervenors through discovery to be critical to the trial court's reasonableness determination, which it affirmed. *Id.* at 585-599.

In *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp., LLC*, 175 Wn.2d 756, 773, 287 P.3d 551, 560 (2012), this Court held that "Washington law has shaped and approved [the reasonableness hearing] process as a settled and appropriate means of balancing the multiple interests of plaintiffs, insureds, and insurers." This Court held that an insurer's due process rights were not violated where the trial court granted the insurer's motion to intervene, motion for a continuance, and motion for discovery and the reasonableness hearing was conducted over the course of four days and was fiercely contested. *Id.* at 763.

Washington law is clear: trial courts have broad discretion to decide the extent to which insurers may conduct discovery regarding the reasonableness of a stipulated settlement based upon information known by the parties at the time of settlement. Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court's discretion in this regard is consistent with and does not conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decisions.

In Steel I Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Clarification or Reconsideration to request a clarification of the Court of Appeals' ruling that "Philadelphia can depose the plaintiffs to determine the strength of the abuse allegations in order to evaluate the settlement amount and the validity of the supporting confessions." There, Plaintiffs argued, as they do in the current Petition, that allowing Philadelphia to depose the plaintiffs "regarding objective facts (such as the facts of their abuse and other merits issues) would be improper, as that evidence-i.e., the deposition testimony—did not exist and was not considered by the parties at the time of settlement and, thus, is not relevant to challenging the settlements' reasonableness." (CP 7441-7442). In Steel I, the Court of Appeals rejected this argument and held that at the trial court's discretion, "Philadelphia can depose the plaintiffs to determine the strength of the abuse allegations in order to evaluate the settlement amount and the validity of the supporting confessions." Steel, 195 Wn. App. at 838.

Thus, the current Court of Appeals decision is consistent with its *Steel I* decision. Moreover, Petitioners are precluded from seeking discretionary review of the *Steel I* decision at this time because Petitioners failed to seek discretionary review of the *Steel I* decision within 30 days of the Court of Appeals' October 4, 2016 ruling terminating review of the

first appeal under RAP 13.4 (a). *State v. Gossage*, 165 Wn.2d 1, 9, 195 P.3d 525 (2008).

Petitioners also misinterpret the holdings in *Red Oaks Condo Owners' Ass'n v. Sundquist Holdings, Inc.*, 128 Wn. App. 317, 116 P.3d 404 (2005) and *Howard v. Royal Specialty Underwriting, Inc.*, 121 Wn. App. 372, 379-80, 89 P.3d 265, *rev. den.*, 153 Wn.2d 1009 (2005). These decisions did not rule it was error to permit an intervening insurer to conduct discovery, but merely held that the trial courts did not abuse their discretion by making their discovery rulings in the factual circumstances presented in those cases given the discretionary nature of discovery decisions in reasonableness hearings. Indeed, these decisions underscore the importance of preserving a trial court's broad discretion to manage discovery in a reasonableness hearing on a case-by-case basis.

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